CITY OF WOLVERHAMPTON COUNCIL

Meeting of the Council

Minutes - 21 July 2021

Attendance

Mayor Cllr Greg Brackenridge (Lab) **Deputy Mayor** Cllr Sandra Samuels OBE (Lab)

Labour

Cllr Obaida Ahmed (v) Cllr Steve Evans Cllr Qaiser Azeem Cllr Val Evans (v) Cllr Bhupinder Gakhal Cllr Mary Bateman Cllr Philip Bateman MBE Cllr Dr Michael Hardacre Cllr Olivia Birch Cllr Celia Hibbert Cllr Dr Paul John Birch J.P.

Cllr Ian Brookfield Cllr Jasbir Jaspal (v) Cllr Paula Brookfield Cllr Jaspreet Jaspal (v) Cllr Christopher Burden Cllr Milkinderpal Jaspal (v)

Cllr Alan Butt

Cllr Craig Collingswood (v)

Cllr Claire Darke (v) Cllr Jasbinder Dehar

Cllr Lynne Moran Cllr Anwen Muston Cllr Phil Page Cllr Rita Potter Cllr John Reynolds (v)

Cllr Keith Inston Cllr Susan Roberts MBE Cllr Zee Russell

Cllr Stephen Simkins Cllr Clare Simm Cllr Rashpal Kaur Cllr Tersaim Singh Cllr Linda Leach Cllr Paul Sweet (v)

Cllr Barbara McGarrity QN Cllr Jacqueline Sweetman (v) Cllr Beverley Momenabadi Cllr Gillian Wildman (v)

Independent Member

Cllr Harman Banger

Conservative

Cllr Andrew McNeil Cllr Paul Appleby Cllr Simon Bennett Cllr Andrew Randle Cllr Adam Collinge Cllr Mak Singh Cllr Jonathan Crofts Cllr Paul Singh Cllr Udey Singh Cllr Wendy Dalton Cllr Wendy Thompson Cllr Christopher Haynes Cllr Stephanie Haynes Cllr Ellis Turrell

Cllr Sohail Khan (v)

Cllr Jonathan Yardley

Employees

Tim Johnson Chief Executive

Mark Taylor **Deputy Chief Executive David Pattison** Director of Governance

Emma Bennett Director of Children's and Adult Services

Director of Regeneration Richard Lawrence

Deputy Director of People and Change Laura Phillips (v) Ross Cook (v) Director of City Housing and Environment

Charlotte Johns (v) **Director of Strategy** Tracey Christie (v) Head of Legal Services Richard Wyatt **Head of Communications** Democratic Services Manager Jaswinder Kaur

The proceedings opened with Prayers

Item No. Title

1 Apologies for absence

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Rupinderjit Kaur and Asha Mattu.

2 Declarations of interest

David Pattison, Director of Governance advised that all Councillors were eligible to vote in accordance with the legislation, and under the Council's Constitution there was a standing dispensation to all Councillors in relation to member allowances, business rates, housing matters and rents.

David Pattison, Director of Governance, Emma Bennet, Director of Children's and Adult Services, Richard Lawrence, Director of Regeneration and Richard Wyatt, Head of Communications declared a pecuniary interest in item 6 (Our Future Senior Leadership (Phase1).

Councillor Linda Leach declared a non-pecuniary interest as a small business owner.

Councillor Adam Collinge declared a non-pecuniary interest as a member of the Chartered Landscape Institute and advised he also worked for an environmental consultancy in the city which may relate to later items on the agenda.

Councillor Harman Banger declared disclosable-pecuniary interest as a small business owner.

David Pattison confirmed there was a standard dispensation for business owners.

3 Minutes of previous meeting

The Mayor proposed, the Deputy Mayor seconded, and it was resolved:

That the minutes of the previous meeting, held on 19 May 2021, be agreed as a correct record and signed accordingly by the Mayor.

4 Communications

1. The Queens Award for Voluntary Service 2021

The Mayor was delighted to announce that in June 2021 there were five worthy winners of the Queen's Award for the Voluntary Sector:

- Wednesfield in Bloom.
- Friends of Bantock Park
- The Big Venture Centre
- TLC College
- The Well Foodbank.

The Mayor had written a letter of congratulations to each of the winners on behalf of the Council.

2. Queen's Birthday Honours

The Mayor was delighted to announce that three people with connections to Wolverhampton were recognised as part of the Queen's Birthday Honours:

- Kim Hatton and Claire McKen who run the charity Let us Play were awarded BEM's.
- Barry Bond, Chair of Governors at Green Park School, was awarded an MBE.

The Mayor had written a letter of congratulations to all three on behalf of the Council.

3. PRIDE Month 2021

The Mayor reported that June 2021 saw the Council celebrating Pride Month. Pride Month celebrates the rich history of Pride not only in the UK but throughout the World. The Council was proud to raise the rainbow flag throughout the month. The EDI Team and the Rainbow Staff Forum produced a number of articles that discussed the various aspects of Pride such as the Councils relationship with Wolverhampton LGBT+ and Stonewall and what pride means to Council Staff. The Council also encouraged citizens to take part in the Rainbow City Consultation. The results of this were being reviewed and would form part of the Rainbow City Strategy.

4. Armed Forces Day 2021

The Mayor reported that Armed Forces Week began with a short private flagraising ceremony on Monday 21 June outside the Civic Centre and a Celebration event took place in West Park on Saturday 26 June.

The Mayor added that the Celebration Event was well attended. He had also presented the Mayoral Cadets with their badges. The grand finale to Armed Forces Week was provided by The Wings Parachute Display Team.

5. Windrush Day 2021

The Mayor reported that on Tuesday 22 June 2021, he had raised the flag in honour of the "Windrush" generation of migrants who came to Britain from the Caribbean in the post war years.

The Mayor added, that later that day he was invited to the Wolverhampton Heritage Centre in Clifford Street, to unveil a blue plaque in memory of Paulette Wilson. Paulette was one of the "Windrush Generation" and campaigned for justice after she and many others who entered the UK as children and lived here all their lives were wrongly accused of being illegal immigrants. The blue plaque was a fitting memorial to her legacy of campaigning.

6. **Covid-19 Update**

The Mayor reported there had now been over 290,000 vaccinations administered in the City, with 127,345 people having received two doses. There were 1121 positive cases reported in the City in the seven days to 18/7/21 and no deaths within 28 days of a positive coronavirus test recorded in the same week.

7. Relighting the City

The Mayor announced that two festivals had been announced to give the City a boost to its visitor economy as restrictions were lifted.

The Relight Festival begins in West Park on 20 August and runs to 5 September, with entertainment and activities for all the family and all age groups, from animatronic dinosaurs to live music and comedy. Creation Day Festival is set to take place on 28 and 29 May 2022, again in West Park, and will feature top music acts.

Tickets for both events are available online now.

8. South Asian History Month

The Mayor announced the Council was proud to be celebrating South Asian Heritage Month, which would be taking place between 18 July – 17 August. Wolverhampton is a diverse city, with 17% of the population having a South Asian background (2011 census) which includes 1st, 2nd and 3rd generation immigrants. Over the next month, the Council would have a range of virtual events for colleagues to take part in.

9. Summer Holiday Activities

The Mayor reported the school holidays were almost upon us and the council was running a new Yo! Summer Festival offering over 400 activities and events for youngsters to get involved in. The activities, many of which were free, included sports, clubs, fun days, arts and crafts and much more, and were already underway.

The Mayor added that highlights included free swimming lessons from WV Active, sensory sessions with animals at HugglePets in the Community, sculpting, painting and drawing classes from Real Arts Workshops, and the return of the innovative walking, running and rolling game Beat the Street. The Central Youth Theatre and our public libraries were also hosting events and requested councillors to spread the word among our communities to get our youngsters out and about and involved in something positive this summer.

10. UNESCO Learning City

The Mayor was delighted to share the news from the UK Commission for UNESCO had agreed to put City of Wolverhampton forward for the UNESCO Learning City Award 2021. This meant that Wolverhampton was going forward to the next stage.

The UNESCO Institute for Lifelong Learning (UIL) would review and shortlist the nominations it received from National Commissions (worldwide). A jury appointed by UNESCO would then select the awardees which we anticipate being announced in September.

11. MJ Awards

The Mayor announced that the Council had been nominated in three categories for an award this year:

- Tim Johnson had been nominated for "Chief Executive of the Year".
- Anthony Walker had been nominated in the 'Rising Star' category, for working hard to protect every person experiencing homeless in the city during the pandemic.
- The Commercial Regulation Service, working with legal services had been nominated in the 'Best Social Housing Initiative' category, for their

work in ensuring the council could act quickly and effectively against landlords acting illegally.

12. Euros 2020

The Mayor congratulated the England football team on reaching the final of the Euro 2020 tournament, only the second time ever our national side had reached the final of a major championship. The team had played superbly well and despite coming second on the night, they did the country proud.

The Mayor placed on record that the online racist abuse aimed at some of the players was totally unacceptable and hoped that justice was eventually served.

13. EID

The Mayor wished all those that are celebrating Eid al-Adha, Eid Muburak. Eid al-Adha celebrates the "feast of the sacrifice". Eid al-Adha remembers a story about Allah asking Abraham to sacrifice his son as a sign of faith. It is also the time of year many Muslims make a five-day pilgrimage to the city of Mecca in Saudi Arabia called Hajj.

14. Councillor Paul Appleby

The Mayor congratulated Councillor Paul Appleby and his partner Becci, on the birth to their daughter Ava on 15 June 2021.

5 Report of Leader of the Council

The Leader of the Council, Councillor Ian Brookfield, provided Council with an update on the Black Country Plan which was considered by the Cabinet on Wednesday 7 July.

The Leader of the Council, Councillor Ian Brookfield and Councillor Beverley Momenabadi, the Cabinet Member for Children and Young People gave Council more information on the Yo! Summer Festival.

6 Our Future Senior Leadership (Phase 1)

Having declared a disclosable pecuniary interest in this item David Pattison, Emma Bennet, Richard Lawrence and Richard Wyatt left the Council Chamber and took no part in the consideration of this item.

The Leader of the Council, Councillor Ian Brookfield presented the report: Our Future Senior Leadership (Phase 1) for approval. The report proposed changes to the way in which the senior management team were strategically aligned, maximising the council's ability to respond to its operating environment in terms of both financial constraints and priorities as set through the City's Vision 2030, Council's Corporate Plan and Relighting our City programme.

Councillor Ian Brookfield, proposed the recommendations and Councillor Stephen Simkins seconded the recommendations.

The report was debated by Council.

In response to Councillor Paul Singh's question regarding the number of BME staff earning £50,000 or more' Councillor Ian Brookfield agreed to provide a written response.

Upon being put to the meeting, and a division having been demanded and taken voting thereon was as follows:

Our Future Senior Leadership Structure (Resolution)	
Councillor Greg Brackenridge	For
Councillor Sandra Samuels OBE	For
Councillor Paul Appleby	Against
Councillor Qaiser Azeem	For
Councillor Harman Banger	For
Councillor Mary Bateman	For
Councillor Philip Bateman MBE	For
Councillor Simon Bennett	Against
Councillor Olivia Birch	For
Councillor Dr Paul John Birch J.P.	For
Councillor Ian Brookfield	For
Councillor Paula Brookfield	For
Councillor Christopher Burden	For
Councillor Alan Butt	For
Councillor Adam Collinge	Against
Councillor Jonathan Crofts	Against
Councillor Wendy Dalton	Against
Councillor Jasbinder Dehar	For
Councillor Steve Evans	For
Councillor Bhupinder Gakhal	For
Councillor Dr Michael Hardacre	For
Councillor Christopher Haynes	Against
Councillor Stephanie Haynes	Against
Councillor Celia (CeeCee) Hibbert	Abstain
Councillor Keith Inston	For
Councillor Rashpal Kaur	For
Councillor Linda Leach	For
Councillor Barbara McGarrity QN	For
Councillor Andrew McNeil	Against
Councillor Beverley Momenabadi	For
Councillor Lynne Moran	For
Councillor Anwen Muston	For
Councillor Phil Page	For
Councillor Rita Potter	For
Councillor Andrew Randle	Against
Councillor Susan Roberts MBE	For
Councillor Zee Russell	For
Councillor Stephen Simkins	For
Councillor Clare Simm	For
Councillor Gurmukh (Mak) Singh	Against
Councillor Paul Singh	Against
Councillor Tersaim Singh	For
Councillor Udey Singh	Against

Councillor Wendy Thompson	Against
Councillor Ellis Turrell	Against
Councillor Jonathan Yardley	Against
Carried	

Resolved:

- 1. That the establishment of an Executive Director of Families post be approved subject to appointment by a Special Appointments Committee.
- 2. That the establishment of a Chief Operating Officer post be approved subject to appointment by a Special Appointments Committee.
- 3. That a Special Appointments Committee for the appointment of an Executive Director of Families be approved.
- 4. That a Special Appointments Committee for the appointment of a Chief Operating Officer be approved.
- 5. That the Special Appointment Committees approved within this report have delegated authority to endorse both appointments on behalf of Council.
- 6. That a nominated chair of an employee equality forum also be included on the Special Appointment Committee panels as an observer to further embed our absolute commitment to equalities and diversity.
- 7. That a revision to the Senior Management Pay structure to support the introduction of new senior management posts; Chief Operating Officer and Executive Director of Families be approved.
- 8. That the financial implications of delivering our future senior leadership would be considered as a whole, taking account of both phases one and two. By the end of phase two there would have been a reduction in headcount, and as a minimum the revised structure would be cost neutral.

7 Capital Budget Outturn 2020-2021 including Quarter One Capital Budget Monitoring 2021-2022

The Leader of the Council, Councillor Ian Brookfield presented the report: Capital Budget Outturn 2020-2021 including Quarter One Capital Budget Monitoring 2021-2022 for approval. The report provided Council with an update on the outturn position for 2020-2021 and update on the 2021-2022 financial performance of the General Revenue Account and HRA capital programmes whilst also providing a revised forecast for 2021-2022 to 2025-2026 as at quarter one of 2021-2022.

The report also recommended revisions to the current approved capital programmes covering the period 2021-2022 to 2025-2026.

The Leader of the Council, Councillor Ian Brookfield, proposed the recommendations and Councillor Stephen Simkins seconded the recommendations.

The report was debated by Council.

Resolved:

1. That the revised, medium term General Revenue Account capital programme of £340.2 million, an increase of £3.0 million from the previously approved programme, and the change in associated resources be approved.

2. That the revised, medium term Housing Revenue Account (HRA) capital programme of £450.3 million, a reduction of £222,000 from the previously approved programme, and the change in associated resources be approved.

8 Treasury Management - Annual Report 2020-2021 and Activity Monitoring Quarter One 2021-2022

The Leader of the Council, Councillor Ian Brookfield presented the report: Treasury Management - Annual Report 2020-2021 and Activity Monitoring Quarter One 2021-2022 for approval. The report provided Council with the results of treasury management activities carried out in 2020- 2021, together with performance against the Prudential Indicators previously approved by Council. It also provided a monitoring and progress report on treasury management activity for the first quarter of 2021-2022, in line with the Prudential Indicators approved by Council in March 2021.

The Leader of the Council, Councillor lan Brookfield, proposed the recommendations and Councillor Stephen Simkins seconded the recommendations.

The report was debated by Council.

Resolved:

- 1. That it be noted, the Council operated within the overall approved Prudential and Treasury Management Indicators, and also within the requirements set out in the Council's approved Treasury Management Policy Statement during 2020-2021, however due to the reprofiling of some capital programmes the operational boundary for commercial activities was slightly in excess of the best estimate included in the Treasury Management Strategy presented to Council on 3 March 2021.
- 2. That it be noted, a revenue underspend of £2.3 million for the General Revenue Account and £805,000 for the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) were generated from treasury management activities in 2020-2021.
- 3. That it be noted, the revenue underspend of £1.4 million for the General Revenue Account and £11,000 for the HRA were forecast from treasury management activities in 2021-2022 be noted.

9 Wolverhampton's Youth Justice Plan 2021-2022

Councillor Beverley Momenabadi, presented a report on Wolverhampton's Youth Justice Plan 2021-2022 for approval. The plan related to the work of the Youth Offending Team (YOT) that was overseen by the partnership YOT Management Board (YMB).

Councillor Beverley Momenabadi added that the plan for 2021-2022 sought to identify priorities that respond to the national YJB key performance indicators whilst also taking the local context of Wolverhampton into consideration. There was a clear focus on continuing to reduce the number of first-time entrants, reducing reoffending and reducing the number of young people who received a custodial sentence.

Councillor Beverley Momenabadi, proposed the recommendation and Councillor Dr Mike Hardacre seconded the recommendation.

The report was debated by Council.

In response to Councillor Paul Singh's question regarding 'what offences were being committed by young people to be handed a custodial sentence' and Councillor Udey Singh's question regarding 'were reoffenders committing a similar or a similar sort of offence, are these linked or shifting in nature'. Councillor Beverley Momenabadi agreed to provide a written response to both questions.

Resolved:

That the adoption of the Youth Justice Plan 2021-2022 be approved.

10 Changes to the Constitution

Councillor Paula Brookfield, presented a report on Changes to the Constitution for approval. The Constitution had been reviewed to ensure the constitution was clear and concise and that the decision-making processes can be followed by all.

Councillor Paula Brookfield, outlined the substantive amendments to be made to the constitution and the rationale for making these changes. She added that this was the second in a series of reports and that additional reports would be provided at future meetings to review the other parts of the constitution.

Councillor Paula Brookfield, proposed the recommendations and Councillor Wendy Thompson seconded the recommendations.

Resolved:

- 1. That the amendments to the Constitution as detailed in Appendix 1 to this report be approved.
- 2. That the Monitoring Officer be authorised to implement the changes.

11 Protocol for Awarding Freedom of the City

Councillor Paula Brookfield, presented the report: Protocol for Awarding Freedom of the City for approval. The report proposed the adoption of a protocol which would clarify the nomination process and the way in which the Freedom of the City would be awarded in future. There were currently no guidelines or protocols governing the way in which the Council made such awards.

Councillor Paula Brookfield, proposed the recommendation and Councillor Wendy Thompson seconded the recommendation.

Resolved:

That the protocol for awarding Freedom of the City be approved.

12 Decisions Made Under Urgent Action Powers

The Leader of the Council, Councillor Ian Brookfield presented the report: Decisions Made Under Urgent Action Powers for noting. The report detailed the decision taken under Urgent Action Powers.

The Leader of the Council, Councillor lan Brookfield proposed the recommendation and Councillor Stephen Simkins seconded the recommendation.

Resolved:

That the decision made under the Council's Urgent Action Powers be noted.

13 Motions on Notice

The Leader of the Council, Councillor Ian Brookfield moved the following motion:

We call upon our Council to join the national uproar from all local authorities about the Government's new planning proposals.

They are essentially an uninspired 'Developers Charter' that fails to respect the most important part of any planning process – the views of local residents.

Their proposals for a zonal based system where all land will be put into 3 different zone categories (Growth, Renewal and Protected) would replace the existing ability of local planning authorities to make individual decisions about developments. It would replace the current system of applying for planning permission, and deny local residents the opportunity to voice their opinions on individual applications. This is an erosion of local democracy.

'Zonal planning' is at best, a very blunt instrument and, at worst, a disaster. This council cannot and will not support such an approach.

The Leader of the Council, Councillor Ian Brookfield outlined the rationale for motion. Councillor Stephen Simkins seconded the motion.

Councillor Adam Collinge moved the following amended motion:

"We call upon the Council to join with other local authorities in expressing concern at parts of the draft proposals in the Government's planning white paper.

"Whilst the Government white paper Planning for the Future remains subject to further consultation, parliamentary scrutiny and approval, this Council believes that Government should review its approach, working as closely as possible with local authorities and local communities to address legitimate concerns in order to build and implement a planning system that is fair and equitable, accounts for local development constraints, considerations and concerns and fully involves local communities in guiding how development proceeds such that we can regenerate and build high-quality, sustainable, healthy, 'greener' communities that meet individual and families housing needs.

"Furthermore, this Council is pleased to see the promotion of neighbourhood plans within the white paper and hopes to see this promotion continued.

"Lastly, this Council agrees to the Chief Executive writing to the Secretary of State for MHCLG advising him of this Council's views as stated above".

Councillor Adam Collinge outlined the rationale for the amended motion. Councillor Andrew Randle seconded the motion.

The amended motion was debated by Council. The amended motion was lost.

Resolved:

That the substantive motion on new planning proposals be agreed.

Councillor Ellis Turrell will move the following motion:

That this Council, in pursuit of a Brownfield-first policy, agrees to actively promote the identification of further brownfield land across the City for housing, through both the public consultation of the Black Country Plan and a public 'call for sites', including making direct contact with landowners; and that council-owned greenfield and green belt land shall not be put forward for development, but instead retained for future generations, ensuring any wider development proposals secure investment for such green spaces for community benefit and ecological enhancements.

The Councillor Ellis Turrell outlined the rationale for motion. Councillor Adam Collinge seconded the motion.

The Leader of the Council, Councillor Ian Brookfield moved the following amended motion:

That this Council, is in pursuit of a brownfield only policy, makes urgent representations to the Secretary of State Robert Jenrick and the MHCLG to inform them that the number of houses they require us to provide under the Black Country Plan far outstrips our total brownfield capacity, and forces us to use our precious and limited green belt. The Government alone are the only body able to change Wolverhampton's housing/employment land target and they alone can give our residents a green future fit for their children by allowing us to use brownfield only.

The Leader of the Council, Councillor Ian Brookfield outlined the rationale for the amended motion. Councillor Stephen Simkins seconded the motion.

The amended motion was debated by Council. The amended motion was carried.

That the substantive motion on brownfield only policy be agreed.

14 Written Questions by Councillors

The Deputy Leader: Inclusive City Economy, Councillor Stephen Simkins responded to questions put to him by Councillor Udey Singh on Heath Town Baths, Councillor Ellis Turrell on West Side, Councillor Simon Bennett on Loss of Spending, and Councillor Andrew McNeil on Green Belt Land. He also responded to supplementary questions on the same subject matters.

The Cabinet Member for City Environment and Climate Change, Councillor Steve Evans responded to a question put to him by Councillor Andrew Randle on parks. He also responded to a supplementary question on the same subject matter.

The Cabinet Member for City Assets and Housing, Councillor Bhupinder Gakhal responded to a question put to him by Councillor Adam Collinge on brownfield sites. He also responded to a supplementary question on the same subject matter.